

Do Power Plant Impingement and Entrainment Cause Changes in Fish Populations?

A Review of the Scientific Evidence

2011 TECHNICAL REPORT

Port Authority 036642

Do Power Plant Impingement and Entrainment Cause Changes in Fish Populations?

A Review of the Scientific Evidence

EPRI Project Manager D. Dixon



3420 Hillview Avenue Palo Alto, CA 94304-1338 USA

PO Box 10412 Palo Alto, CA 94303-0813 USA

> 800.313.3774 650.855.2121 <u>askepri@epri.com</u>

> > www.epri.com

1023094 Final Report, July 2011

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITIES

THIS DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED BY THE ORGANIZATION(S) NAMED BELOW AS AN ACCOUNT OF WORK SPONSORED OR COSPONSORED BY THE ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE, INC. (EPRI). NEITHER EPRI, ANY MEMBER OF EPRI, ANY COSPONSOR, THE ORGANIZATION(S) BELOW, NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY OF THEM:

(A) MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, (I) WITH RESPECT TO THE USE OF ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT, INCLUDING MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR (II) THAT SUCH USE DOES NOT INFRINGE ON OR INTERFERE WITH PRIVATELY OWNED RIGHTS, INCLUDING ANY PARTY'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, OR (III) THAT THIS DOCUMENT IS SUITABLE TO ANY PARTICULAR USER'S CIRCUMSTANCE; OR

(B) ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES OR OTHER LIABILITY WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING ANY CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, EVEN IF EPRI OR ANY EPRI REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES) RESULTING FROM YOUR SELECTION OR USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT.

REFERENCE HEREIN TO ANY SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL PRODUCT, PROCESS, OR SERVICE BY ITS TRADE NAME, TRADEMARK, MANUFACTURER, OR OTHERWISE, DOES NOT NECESSARILY CONSTITUTE OR IMPLY ITS ENDORSEMENT, RECOMMENDATION, OR FAVORING BY EPRI.

THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATION(S), UNDER CONTRACT TO EPRI, PREPARED THIS REPORT:

LWB Environmental Services, Inc.

NOTE

For further information about EPRI, call the EPRI Customer Assistance Center at 800.313.3774 or e-mail askepri@epri.com.

Electric Power Research Institute, EPRI, and TOGETHER...SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ELECTRICITY are registered service marks of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc.

Copyright © 2011 Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. All rights reserved.

Acknowledgments

This publication is a corporate document that should be cited in the literature in the following manner:

Do Power Plant Impingement and Entrainment Cause Changes in Fish Populations? A Review of the Scientific Evidence EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2011. 1023094 The following organization, under contract to the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), prepared this report:

LWB Environmental Services, Inc. 1620 New London Rd. Hamilton, OH 45013

Principal Investigator Lawrence W. Barnthouse, Ph.D.

This report describes research sponsored by EPRI.

The review, technical comments, and recommendations of the following individuals who reviewed a previous draft of this report is greatly appreciated:

- Kim Anthony, Southern California Edison
- David Bailey, EPRI
- Rob Reash, American Electric Power Company
- David Michaud, We Energies
- Kristy Bulleit and Jim Christman, Hunton & Williams
- Bill Dey, John Young and Don Danila, ASA Analysis & Communication Inc.
- Bob Reider, DTE Energy
- Terry Cheek, Tennessee Valley Authority
- Ed Wheeler, TransCanada
- Carla Logan, Constellation Energy
- Steve Dalton, National Grid
- John Petro and Jeremiah Haas, Exelon

< iii >



Report Summary

This report directly examines the peer-reviewed scientific evidence for the occurrence of changes, adverse or otherwise, as determined by researchers to fish and shellfish populations and to communities as a result of impingement and entrainment (I&E) mortality caused by power plant cooling water intake structures (CWISs).

Background

In 1972, Congress passed the Clean Water Act (CWA), and §316(b) applied directly to regulating the impacts of CWISs on aquatic life. Specifically, §316(b) requires the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to ensure that "the location, design, construction and capacity of cooling water intake structures shall reflect the best technology available for minimizing adverse environmental impact." Since the CWA was passed, there have been several attempts to promulgate national regulations—most of which were later remanded as a result of legal challenges. On April 20, 2011, the EPA proposed a revised §316(b) Rule for existing power plants and other industrial facilities using cooling water (a combined Phase II and III regulatory action; FR 76(76)). Performance standards and monitoring requirements are proposed for reducing I&E mortality. The EPA expects that the proposed regulation will (FR 76(76), April 20, 2011) "...minimize adverse environmental impacts, including substantially reducing the harmful effects of impingement and entrainment. As a result, the Agency anticipates this proposed rule would help protect ecosystems affected by cooling water intake structures and preserve aquatic organisms and the ecosystems they inhabit in waters used by cooling water intake structures at existing facilities." A final existing facility Rule is scheduled to be promulgated by July 27, 2012. The research reported on here examines whether there is scientific evidence to support the EPA's claim that there are, in fact, adverse environmental impacts to be reduced.

Objectives

 To examine whether published peer-reviewed scientific information supports the contention that power plant I&E mortality reduces fish populations and affects the ecosystem services that aquatic communities provide

< v >

Approach

The reviewed information includes (1) peer-reviewed literature reporting results of studies of impacts of I&E at power plants on fish populations, (2) peer-reviewed technical papers in the scientific literature relevant to demonstrating the linkage (if any) of I&E to reductions in the services provided by freshwater and marine ecosystems, (3) "blue-ribbon" commission reports such as the Pew Ocean Commission report and relevant National Research Council reports that discuss causes of fish population decline and marine ecosystem degradation, (4) the EPA's own reports on the condition and causes of degradation of coastal ecosystems, and (5) peerreviewed papers and agency stock assessment reports documenting the causes of declines in marine and freshwater fish populations. The first two literature reviews directly examine the documentation of power plant CWIS impacts, while the latter three reviews approach the issue indirectly and retrospectively, that is, blue-ribbon commissions, the EPA, or fishery management agencies investigating causes of adverse environmental changes, specifically, the noted impacts of power plant CWISs.

Results

The diverse literature discussed in this report, including studies of both marine and freshwater ecosystems throughout North America and Europe, consistently identifies overfishing, habitat destruction, pollution, and invasive species as being the predominant causes of past and present impairment of fish populations and the ecosystems that support them. In those few cases where impacts of I&E mortality have been specifically investigated, such impacts have rarely been found. Although impacts due to I&E mortality have limited documentation in published studies, this absence does not prove that changes to fish populations and communities are not occurring or could never occur. The limited documentation of such impacts, however, after 40 years of operation of large power plants, some of which have been conducting extensive monitoring programs for several decades, provides substantial evidence that any such impacts are difficult to measure or are otherwise small compared to other impacts on fish populations and communities. Most important, there is little scientific evidence to support a conclusion that reducing I&E mortality via regulation of cooling water intakes will result in measurable improvements in recreational or commercial fish populations or ecological services.

Keywords

Adverse environmental impact Clean Water Act Section 316(b) Cooling water intake structures (CWIS) Entrainment Fisheries Impingement

< vi >

Table of Contents

Section 1:	Introduction 1-1
Section 2:	Peer-Reviewed Studies of Adverse
2.1	Connecticut River and Hudson River
2.2	Other Studies Using Population Models and
2.3	Studies Comparing Equivalent Adult Losses to
24	Studios of Cumulativo Impacts of 18 E
2.4	Summary
Section 3:	Impacts of I&E on Food Webs3-1
Section 4:	Causes of Fish Population Declines Documented in "Blue Ribbon"
11	Commission Reports4-1
4.2	National Research Council Reports4-3
Section 5:	EPA National Coastal Conditions Reports5-1
Section 6:	Causes of Adverse Impacts Documented in Peer-Reviewed Literature6-1
Section 7:	Causes of Adverse Changes in Specific
71	Atlantic Striped Bass (Morone savatilis) 7-1
7.2	American Shad (Alosa sapidissima)
7.3	River Herring (Alosa pseudoharengus and A. aestivalis) 7-2
7.4	Winter Flounder (Pseudopleuronectes
7.5	Weakfish (Cynoscion regalis)

< vii >

Section 9:	References9-1
Section 8:	Summary8-1
7.10	Lake Whitefish (Coregonus clupeaformis)
79	Pacific Rockfishes (Scorpgenidge) 7-5
7.8	Atlantic Croaker (Micropogonias undulatus)7-4
	Menhaden (B. patronus)7-4
7.7	Atlantic Menhaden (<i>Brevoortia tyrannus</i>)/Gulf
7.6	Red Drum (Sciaenops ocellatus)7-3

Section 1: Introduction

In 1972, Congress passed the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments, 33 U.S. C. §§ 1251 et seq., (popularly known as the Clean Water Act or CWA), which included a provision (§ 316(b)) authorizing the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to regulate cooling water intake structures (CWIS). Specifically, §316(b) requires that "...*the location, design, construction and capacity of cooling water intake structures shall reflect the best technology available for minimizing adverse environmental impact.*" In 1976, EPA issued a rule implementing §316(b); however, that rule was later suspended on procedural grounds. Following suspension of the rule, EPA issued draft guidance advising permit writers how to implement § 316(b) on a case-by-case basis during NPDES permitting. Both the 1976 rule and EPA's subsequent guidance focused on the potential impingement and entrainment (I&E) of fish and shellfish to cause adverse environmental impact.

In 1993, a coalition of environmental groups sued EPA for failure to promulgate national standards implementing §316(b) requirements. As a result, EPA entered into a consent decree to develop in phases final regulations for both existing and new facilities that use CWIS. A Phase I Rule for new facilities was issued in 2001. The "Phase I" Rule essentially requires closed-cycle cooling systems or comparably performing intake technologies as best technology available (BTA) to minimize adverse environmental impact (AEI). In 2004, EPA promulgated a Phase II Rule to implement regulations for existing power plants that withdraw > 50 million gallons per day (MGD) of cooling water. In 2006, EPA finalized a Phase III Rule for existing power plants withdrawing < 50 MGD and all other industrial facilities that use cooling water. Both regulations were subsequently challenged and later remanded or withdrawn by the Agency.

On April 20, 2011, EPA proposed a revised §316(b) Rule for existing power plants and other industrial facilities using cooling water (a combined Phase II and III regulatory action)(FR 76(76). Performance standards and monitoring requirements are proposed for reducing I&E mortality. EPA says that the proposed regulation will:

"...minimize adverse environmental impacts, including substantially reducing the harmful effects of impingement and entrainment. As a result, the Agency anticipates this proposed rule would help protect ecosystems affected by cooling water intake structures and preserve aquatic organisms and the ecosystems they inhabit in waters used by cooling water intake structures at existing facilities."

< 1-1 >

EPA plans to sign the final rule by July 27, 2012.

EPA included a detailed discussion of the environmental benefits of reducing I&E in Chapter A6 of its Regional Benefits Assessment for the 316(b) Phase III rule (USEPA 2006). According to this discussion, reducing I&E losses would be expected to "...contribute to the enhanced environmental functioning of affected waterbodies and associated ecosystems." Two specific benefits of this "enhanced environmental functioning" were identified by EPA:

- Contribution to the recovery of damaged fish populations
- Contribution to restoring or preserving the services provided by saltwater and freshwater ecosystems

With respect to the recovery of damaged fish populations, EPA claimed that I&E may have contributed to the depletion of a large number of freshwater and marine fish populations. With respect to restoration/preservation of ecosystem services, EPA identified nine ecological services that could potentially be disrupted by I&E, these include:

- Decreased numbers of ecological keystone, rare, sensitive, or threatened and endangered species;
- Decreased numbers of popular commercial and recreational fish species that are not fished, perhaps because the fishery is closed;
- Increased numbers of exotic or disruptive species that compete well in the absence of species lost to I&E (I&E may also help remove some exotic or disruptive organisms);
- Disruption of ecological niches and ecological strategies used by aquatic species;
- Disruption of energy transfer through the food web;
- Decreased local biodiversity;
- Disruption of predator-prey relationships;
- Disruption of age class structures of species; and
- Disruption of natural succession processes.

The purpose of this report is to evaluate the scientific validity of the above claims through a review of the peer-reviewed scientific literature on fish population depletion and on ecosystem services. The reviewed technical papers includes (1) peer-reviewed literature reporting results of studies of impacts of I&E at power plants on fish populations, (2) peer-reviewed technical papers in the scientific literature relevant to demonstrating the linkage (if any) of I&E to reductions in the services provided by freshwater and marine ecosystems, (3) "blue-ribbon" commission reports such as the Pew Ocean Commission (2003) report and relevant National Academy of Sciences Reports that discuss causes of fish population decline and marine ecosystem degradation, (4) EPA's own reports on the condition and causes of degradation of coastal ecosystems, and (5) peer-reviewed papers and agency stock assessment reports

documenting the causes of declines in marine and freshwater fish populations. The first two literature reviews directly examine the documentation of power plant CWIS impacts while the latter three reviews approach the issue indirectly; i.e., have blue-ribbon commissions, EPA or fishery management agencies specifically noted impacts of power plant CWIS and have proposed or posited actions to mitigate them.

The issue is not whether I&E could *potentially* have adverse environmental impacts, but on whether any such impacts have been shown to occur over the nearly 40 years since the enactment of CWA §316(b). This report emphasizes causes that are potentially responsible for changes in fish populations and communities that have occurred over this 40-year period. Large-scale, permanent habitat modifications such as damming and channelization of rivers have had clear and obvious impacts on many estuarine and freshwater fish species. However, most of these modifications occurred prior to the 20th century. Although they provide an important historical perspective on the adverse impacts of human activities on fish populations, habitat alterations that occurred more than 100 years ago are unlikely to be responsible for more recent adverse changes in fish populations.

This report complements a previous effort conducted for EPRI by the Oak Ridge National Laboratory (EPRI 2003) which also examined the relationship between power plant I&E and fish population effects. This previous effort was more focused on the *possible* relationship between the volume of water withdrawn by a water intake and the status of fish populations and aquatic communities in the source water body. It attempted to evaluate the existence of a dose-response relationship. It also looked at all forms of water withdrawal (e.g., hydropower, municipal water supply, irrigation) in addition to those by power plants. The analyses and reviews conducted in that EPRI (2003) study did not find a compelling dose-response relationship between volume of water withdrawal. Evidence from multiple sources reviewed by EPRI (2003) suggested that the dose-response relationship is a horizontal line with a slope of zero and high variability.

Port Authority 036654

Section 2: Peer-Reviewed Studies of Adverse Impacts of I&E

Even prior to the 1972 passage of the CWA, concerns had been raised by both government agencies and nongovernmental organizations about the potential impacts of impingement and entrainment (I&E) on fish populations (Barnthouse et al. 1984). Despite these concerns, in the more than 40 years since they were originally raised relatively few studies of adverse impacts of I&E on fish populations have been published in the peer-reviewed scientific literature. The best-known of these studies were published as American Fisheries Society Monographs.

2.1 Connecticut River and Hudson River Monographs

The Connecticut River Ecological Study, which documented monitoring and assessment studies performed during construction and early operation of the Connecticut Yankee plant on the lower Connecticut River, was originally published in 1976. An update reproducing the original monograph and documenting ecological studies performed in the river after the completion of the original study was published in 2004 (Jacobson et al. 2004). The Connecticut River study was designed in the mid-1960s, prior to the emergence of I&E as a major regulatory issue, at a time when thermal discharges were expected to be the most important causes of adverse impacts on receiving water bodies. Hence, much of the study focused on impacts of Connecticut Yankee's thermal plume. Entrainment monitoring was conducted, however, and the study estimated that 4% of fish eggs and larvae passing by the plant could be entrained. The study authors drew no inferences concerning the impacts of entrainment on adult populations because of lack of information concerning: (1) the natural mortality rates of susceptible life stages and (2) the carrying capacity of the river system.

The updated study (Jacobson et al. 2004) documented results of 37 years of monitoring and research conducted following the completion of the original study, including the entire remaining period of operation of Connecticut Yankee, which ceased commercial operation in 1996. Major changes in the Connecticut River fish community documented in this monograph include decreased abundance of native alosids (alewife, blueback herring, and American shad), increased abundance of alosids native to mid-Atlantic and southern rivers (gizzard shad and hickory shad), and a shift in the relative abundance of different catfish species. None of these changes were attributed to the operation of Connecticut Yankee, and the authors concluded that there is no evidence that plant operations had any long-term impact on the ecology of the lower Connecticut River:

"...when evaluated some 30 years later, in the context of significant improvements in analytical tools, the original Study conclusions regarding the level of impact have been largely confirmed. There is no evidence of any long-term impact of the operation of CY on the ecology of the lower Connecticut River."

Environmental research and assessment studies addressing impacts of I&E at multiple power plants located on the lower Hudson River were documented in a 1988 monograph (Barnthouse et al. 1988a). In contrast to the Connecticut River study, the emphasis of the Hudson River studies was on quantifying the impacts of I&E on populations of juvenile and adult fish. Species addressed included striped bass, white perch, Atlantic tomcod, bay anchovy, alewife, blueback herring, and American shad. Most of the data used in the quantitative assessments, however, was collected over a 3-year period (1974-1976) when the power plants (Indian Point Units 2 and 3, Bowline Point Units 1 and 2, and Roseton Units 1 and 2) that were the focus of the assessments had just begun operation. Hence, most of the papers in the monograph deal with either estimated impacts on individual year classes or potential long-term impacts on adult populations. The estimated reductions in individual year classes (Boreman et al. 19888; Barnthouse and Van Winkle 1988) ranged approximately from 10% - 20%. These mortality rates, although by no means negligible, were judged by both agency and utility scientists to be substantially smaller than mortality rates imposed by fishermen on many harvested species (Barnthouse et al. 1988b). The river-wide monitoring program that provided the data used in these studies has continued through the present, and subsets of the data have been used in several peer-reviewed publications (Barnthouse et al. 2003a, Strayer et al. 2004, Heimbuch 2008, Barnthouse et al. 2009), however, no publications have used these data to address long-term impacts of I&E at Hudson River power plants.

2.2 Other Studies Using Population Models and Site-specific Data

Jensen (1982) used conventional fishery assessment models to quantify the impact of I&E at the Monroe power plant on the yellow perch stock in the western basin of Lake Erie. He concluded that E&I at Monroe would cause only a 2%-3% impact on the equilibrium biomass of the yellow perch population. In contrast, fishing this population at the level associated with maximum sustainable yield (annual harvesting of 35% of the population) would reduce the equilibrium biomass of the population by 50%. In a related paper, Jensen et al. (1982) used the same types of models to quantify impacts of I&E at 15 power plants on alewife, rainbow smelt, and yellow perch populations in Lake Michigan. The authors concluded that impacts of I&E on the biomass of all three species were small: 0.28% for yellow perch, 0.76% for rainbow smelt, and 2.86% for alewife.

Lorda et al. (2000) used a model of the Niantic River winter flounder population to evaluate combined impacts of I&E and fishing on future trends in the abundance of this population. The model was parameterized using 25 years of data on entrainment and impingement of winter flounder at the Millstone Nuclear Power Station and a similar time series of data on the abundance and age structure of the population of winter flounder that spawns in the Niantic River. Lorda et al. (2000) found that the influence of fishing on the abundance of this population was much larger than the influence of I&E. According to these authors, by 1995 fishing had reduced the biomass of the Niantic River winter flounder spawning stock by nearly 90%, from an un-fished level of 120,000 lbs to less than 15,000 lbs. Because of the high level of fishing mortality, reducing entrainment at Millstone by 50% would increase the spawning population by only about 9%. As discussed below (Section 7.4), the conclusion of Lorda et al. (2000) concerning fishery impacts is consistent with the findings of the National Marine Fisheries Service, which has concluded that the Southern New England-Mid Atlantic winter flounder stock, of which the Niantic River population is a component, has been severely depleted by overfishing.

Barnthouse et al. (2003b) used a combination of long-term monitoring data and population-level assessment models to address impacts of 25 years of operation of the Salem Generating Station on fish populations and communities in the Delaware Estuary. Trends analysis found no evidence that I&E at Salem had caused reduction in either the diversity of the Delaware Estuary fish community or the abundance of key fish populations. Model analyses showed that the impacts of I&E on weakfish and other harvested fish populations was small compared to the impacts of fishing. Although finding no evidence for impacts caused by Salem's operations, Barnthouse et al. (2003b) found strong evidence that many Delaware Estuary fish populations had increased in abundance following improvements in water quality and reductions in harvests that occurred between 1975 and 1998.

Henderson et al. (1984) used 11 years of data on impingement of sand smelt at the Fawley Power Station, Hampshire, UK to assess impacts of age-selective impingement on the age distribution of local sand smelt population. These authors found that impingement had no measurable effect, and concluded that the operation of Fawley Power Station had no significant effect on the long-term stability of this population.

Perry et al. (2003) used population models to evaluate impacts of I&E at six Ohio River power plants on local populations of bluegill, freshwater drum, emerald shiner, gizzard shad, sauger, and white bass. The model was parameterized using annual estimates of (1) I&E from each power plant and (2) the abundance of the target populations in the navigational pools on which the plants are sited. Given available data concerning year-to-year variability in the abundance of these populations, the model was used to determine whether, if there had been no I&E, a measurable increase in the abundance of each population could have occurred. Results indicated that measurable increases in the abundance of 6 of the 22 local populations examined might have been measurably higher, if there had been no I&E. However, the authors noted that these predicted increases were small compared to changes caused by habitat modification, water quality, floods, droughts, and temperature extremes.

Heimbuch et al. (2007a) used population models to assess impacts of entrainment and impingement at the Poletti Power Project on winter flounder and Atlantic menhaden populations in the New York/New Jersey Harbor Estuary and Long Island Sound. These authors found reductions in abundance due to I&E of only 0.09% for winter flounder and 0.01% for Atlantic menhaden as a result of entrainment and impingement at Poletti. As discussed in Section 4 below, the impacts of fishing on these populations is estimated to be several orders of magnitude higher than these values.

Nisbet et al. (1996) modeled the potential impact of entrainment of fish larvae by the San Onofre Nuclear Generating Station (SONGS) on fish populations in the Southern California Bight. They concluded that, depending on assumptions made concerning the strength of density-dependence, the standing stock of local queenfish and white croaker populations could be reduced by about 13% and 6%, respectively. No estimates of impacts of fishing on these populations are available.

Ehler et al. (2003) used equivalent adult models and an empirical transport model (ETM) to evaluate impacts of entrainment at the Diablo Canyon Power Plant on rockfish and kelpfish populations in the vicinity of the plant. The assessment used long-term data on entrainment on the local abundance of larval and adult fish. Based on relatively high station-related mortality predicted by the ETM and a decline in abundance following start-up of the plant, the authors concluded that entrainment could have had an adverse impact on local clinid kelpfish populations. Ehler et al. (2003) had no information concerning other influences on clinid kelpfish, because these fish are not harvested and little is known about their life history.

White et al. (2010) recently challenged the assumptions underlying the assessment approach used by Ehler et al. (2003) and others to addressed impacts of entrainment at California coastal power plants on benthic fish populations that produce pelagic larvae that are susceptible to entrainment. White et al. (2010) explicitly simulated the dispersal and settlement processes of larvae spawned in the vicinity of cooling water intake structures. These authors found that because of density-dependent post-settlement mortality, entrainment of larvae generally had only minor effects on adult population density. Compared to the spatially explicit model used by these authors, the approach used by Ehler et al. (2003) and others consistently overstated entrainment impacts. White et al. (2010) found that entrainment of larvae could only threaten the persistence of a local population if adult densities were already reduced to low levels by other stressors.

2.3 Studies Comparing Equivalent Adult Losses to Commercial Landings

Other authors have addressed adverse impacts of I&E by comparing estimates of impingement and entrainment losses, expressed as equivalent adults, to

commercial fishery landings. As discussed in EPRI (2004), equivalent adult estimates are often highly uncertain, because of the difficulty of accurately estimating mortality rates of early life stages of fish. Moreover, equivalent adult estimates are inherently conservative, because they do not account for densitydependence of early life stage mortality. In addition, this simple comparative approach involves neither long-term trends analysis of population-specific data nor explicit modeling of population dynamics. For this reason, the equivalent adult approach is best viewed as a screening approach suitable for identifying situations in which an adverse impact might occur. Without other supporting information, it cannot demonstrate whether or not an adverse impact due to I&E is occurring or has occurred.

Saila et al. (1997) used equivalent adult models to address impacts of I&E on pollock, red hake, and winter flounder impinged and entrained at the Seabrook Station. These authors found that for the years 1990-1995 the maximum number of equivalent adult pollock impinged and entrained at Seabrook in any year was 136 fish, and the maximum number of equivalent adult red hake impinged and entrained in any year was 801 fish. Estimated numbers of equivalent adult winter flounder were higher, up to 4,401 fish in 1991. According to the authors, this total, representing less than 2 metric tons of biomass, was equivalent to 3 days of average catch by a typical class 2 trawler in the Gulf of Maine. It should be noted that these calculations are conservative because they assume that all of these equivalent adults would have been harvested. In reality, only a fraction would have been caught, with the remainder dying from natural mortality at ages older than 3 years. According to the National Marine Fisheries Service commercial fisheries database, more than 2000 metric tons of winter flounder were harvested by New England commercial fishermen in 1991. Thus, in spite of this conservative assumptions employed by Saila et al. (1997), the biomass of equivalent adult losses calculated by these authors is only about 0.1% of the New England harvest of winter flounder that occurred during 1991. Saila et al. (1997) also cited equivalent adult estimates developed for the Pilgrim Station on Cape Cod, showing that during the period from 1990-1995 entrainment losses at Pilgrim were larger (approximately 5,000-12,000) equivalent adults per year) than at Seabrook, but still small compared to commercial harvests.

Turnpenny (1988) found that equivalent adult losses of commercially harvested fish species at the Heysham 1, Hinkley B, Fawly, and Kingsnorth power stations in England and Wales for the year 1986 amounted to 0.5% or less of commercial landings in the designated International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES) fishing areas offshore from these plants. This study did not include an assessment of entrainment impacts.

Turnpenny and Taylor (2000) summarized more than 20 years of data concerning impingement and entrainment of fishes at the Sizewell A and B Nuclear Power Stations on the Suffolk coast of East Anglia, U.K. They found that, expressed as equivalent adults, impingement and entrainment losses were equivalent to 0.54% of the recorded UK and international landings. Adult losses of only sole (1.5%) and herring (5.8%) exceeded one percent of the commercial landing figures. The authors noted that the equivalent adult methodology does not account for density-dependent factors that might tend to increase the survival, growth, and reproductive rates of individuals left in the population when some of their competitors are removed, thus, the values given should be regarded as overestimates.

Similarly, Greenwood (2008) estimated that impingement at the Longannet Power Station on the Forth Estuary, U.K. in 1999 and 2000 removed 90.9-152.5 metric tons of equivalent adult whiting, 13.2-49.5 tons of equivalent adult cod, and 9.8-37.2 metric tons of equivalent adult plaice from local populations. All of these values were small compared to commercial landings, discards and bycatch of these three species in the North Sea adjacent to the Forth Estuary. Greenwood (2008) was unable to estimate the fraction of local populations removed by impingement within the Forth Estuary, because of the inadequacy of available estimates of the total abundance of fish present in the estuary. Although impingement losses at Longannet Power Station were small compared to commercial harvests, Greenwood (2008) suggested that cumulative impacts of impingement at multiple power stations could be significant.

2.4 Studies of Cumulative Impacts of I&E

At least in principle, impacts of I&E on marine fish populations with coastwide distributions should be assessed on a cumulative basis, accounting for all water withdrawals that could affect each species. Newbold and Iovanna (2007) modeled the cumulative impacts of entrainment and impingement mortality at all U.S. coastal power plants on fifteen harvested marine fish populations. These authors utilized I&E loss estimates developed by USEPA (2002, 2004) to support the 316(b) Phase II rulemaking, together with harvest data obtained from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and life history information obtained from EPA and other sources. Density-dependent population models developed using this information were used to estimate the increase in population abundance that could occur if all entrainment and impingement were eliminated. According to the models, eliminating entrainment and impingement of California American shad, California anchovy, Atlantic cod, Atlantic herring, Atlantic mackerel, pollock, scup, silver hake, summer flounder, and winter flounder would increase the abundance of these species by less than 1%. Eliminating entrainment and impingement of Atlantic American shad and Atlantic menhaden would increase the abundance of these species by 1% - 3%. Eliminating entrainment and impingement of California striped bass, Atlantic striped bass, and Atlantic croaker would increase the abundance of these species by 20%-80%.

The explanation for the large impacts predicted for striped bass and Atlantic croaker is the comparatively high annual I&E mortality rates calculated for these species. The annual instantaneous mortality rate due to I&E of Atlantic striped bass (0.18) is substantially higher than the empirical estimates (0.068-0.13) obtained by Boreman and Goodyear (1988) for mortality to Hudson River striped bass due to entrainment at six Hudson River power plants. The annual I&E mortality rate for Atlantic croaker estimated by the authors (0.57) is higher than the target annual fishing mortality rates for many managed fish populations

and is applied to the entire coastwide population, including components of the population that are not exposed to power plants. Populations of both Atlantic striped bass and Atlantic croaker have grown substantially since 1980 (Richards and Rago 1999, ASMFC 2005), and it does not appear plausible that the abundance of either species could be significantly increased by eliminating I&E.

Since I&E mortality rates in the model used by Newbold and Iovanna (2007) are estimated through model calibration, there is no simple way to determine the source of these very high values. However, it should be noted that the I&E loss rates estimated by EPA (2002, 2004) and used by Newbold and Iovanna (2007) were obtained by extrapolating I&E estimates from power plants with available data to plants with no available data based on relative intake flows. This procedure was acknowledged by the authors to have introduced potentially large and unknown uncertainties. Newbold and Iovanna (2007) characterized their analysis as a "screening" analysis and did not claim to have accurately estimated the impacts of I&E on any of the modeled populations.

Recognizing the potential importance of cumulative impacts of I&E, the Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission (ASMFC) established a "Power Plant Committee" to investigate the feasibility of coastwide assessments, using Atlantic menhaden as a test case. As reported by Heimbuch et al. (2007), the committee found that insufficient I&E data were available to perform a scientifically credible assessment, and concluded that it would not be scientifically defensible to extrapolate I&E estimates between power plants. The committee developed a model that could be used to link I&E mortality to the Atlantic menhaden stock assessment model used by the ASMFC, but could only demonstrate the use of the model with hypothetical I&E data.

2.5 Summary

Three published studies have addressed impacts of I&E on fish populations using retrospective analysis of historical data on impingement, entrainment, and population trends. In the updated Connecticut River study (Jacobson et al. 2004), the Barnthouse et al. (2003b) Salem assessment, and the Henderson et al. (1984) study of Fawley Power Station, the authors found no significant impacts due to I&E. Studies published in the Hudson River Monograph (Boreman and Goodyear 1988; Barnthouse and Van Winkle 1988) quantified impacts of I&E on individual year classes using empirical data, but did not extrapolate these impacts to long-term impacts on populations.

Seven studies (Jensen 1982; Jensen et al. 1982; Lorda 2000; Perry et al. 2003; Nisbet et al. 1996; Ehler et al. 2003, Heimbuch et al. 2007a) used a combination of population models and site-specific data to quantify potential impacts of I&E on populations. Three of these studies (Nisbet et al. 1996, Perry et al. 2003; Ehler et al. 2003) found potentially significant impacts on local fish populations, but only one of these three (Ehler et al. 2003) included empirical data showing an actual decline in abundance that could have been caused by I&E . Even this study is open to challenge due to the finding of White et al. (2010) that the assessment approach used by Ehler et al. (2003) significantly overstates entrainment impacts.

Four studies (Turnpenny 1988; Saila et al. 1997; Turnpenny and Taylor 2000; Greenwood 2008) compared I&E losses expressed as equivalent adults to commercial landings Although these studies do not directly address adverse impacts of I&E on fish populations, they provide evidence that any such impacts should be smaller than impacts caused by fishing.

Two studies addressed cumulative impacts of I&E at multiple power plants, however, one of these studies (Newbold and Iovanna 2007) was characterized by the authors as a screening study and the other (Heimbuch et al. 2007b) concluded that cumulative assessment is currently infeasible due to lack of I&E data for many facilities.

Section 3: Impacts of I&E on Food Webs

Rago (1984) noted that fish impinged or entrained at power plants are no longer available to serve as prey for predator populations. The reduction in available prey biomass includes both the biomass of the fish at the time it is impinged or entrained and the future growth that would have occurred before the fish was consumed by a predator. The loss of prey biomass could reduce the abundance and productivity of predator populations (Summers 1989). In addition to affecting predator abundance, losses of forage fish due to I&E could, at least in principle, lead to increases in the abundance of organisms such as zooplankton and phytoplankton that would otherwise have been consumed by the impinged or entrained fish. Super and Gordon (2003) argued that I&E disrupt the natural functioning of ecosystems by transferring energy down the food chain from higher predators to lower decomposers. Greenwood (2008) also suggested that such effects were possible, but cited no examples and provided no supporting information.

Regulation of food web dynamics is an example of an "ecosystem service" provided by marine and freshwater fish populations (Holmlund and Hammer 1999). Recycling of nutrients, regulation of ecosystem resilience, and redistribution of bottom substrates are other examples of ecosystem services provided by fish populations (Holmlund and Hammer 1999). Ecosystem services, as defined by Daily (1997), are "the conditions and processes through which natural ecosystems, and the species that make them up, sustain and fulfill human life." The ecosystem services concept is now widely accepted as an organizing framework for linking ecosystem conditions and human well-being (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005).

Restoration and preservation of services provided by aquatic and marine ecosystems was cited by EPA (2006) as a benefit of reducing I&E. If I&E were disrupting food webs or nutrient recycling, any such disruptions would be considered adverse environmental impacts, above and beyond any impacts on the specific species impinged or entrained. Documented cases of these types of disruptions have all involved the same causes discussed in later sections of this review: overfishing, pollution, habitat destruction, and invasive species. No published studies have identified impingement as being a contributing cause of food web disruption. However, one modeling study has addressed the potential for food web disruption due to entrainment (Summers 1989).

Summers (1989) used a food web model to investigate the potential indirect effects of entrainment of forage fish on striped bass, bluefish, and weakfish

< 3-1 >

production in the Patuxent River, MD. He found that high levels of entrainment losses of preferred prey species (bay anchovy and Atlantic silversides) could cause significant reductions in predator production. However, the model developed by Summers (1989) suffers from two significant oversimplifications. First, it is structured as a conventional "trophic pyramid" in which forage fish feed only on zooplankton and benthic invertebrates and predators feed only on forage fish. Second, it assumes that entrained fish are removed from the food web and perform no ecological functions.

The idea that organisms within aquatic ecosystems may be grouped into relatively discrete "trophic levels" as primary producers (plants that fix carbon using sunlight as an energy source), primary consumers (animals that eat plants), secondary consumers (animals that eat primary consumers), and so on, at higher and higher levels was first formalized by Lindeman (1942). According to this theory, organisms at each level feed primarily on organisms at the next lower level. Animals that die before they are consumed are consumed by scavengers that feed primarily on dead organisms, or are degraded by decomposer organisms, primarily bacteria and fungi. Decomposition releases dissolved nutrients that can be used again by the primary producers at the bottom of the pyramid. As stated by Super and Gordon (2003), according to this view of food webs, entrainment short-circuits the trophic pyramid by killing small fish, which then return directly to the scavenger/decomposer pool rather than being consumed by predators. Predator consumption (and subsequent growth) is reduced in direct proportion to the losses caused by entrainment.

This characterization of ecosystems in terms of a "trophic pyramid" is now widely recognized by ecologists as a gross oversimplification. In a comprehensive review of terrestrial and aquatic food webs, Polis and Strong (1996) stated (p. 815) that "the notion that species clearly aggregate into discrete, homogeneous trophic levels is fiction." Rather than being organized into discrete levels, with plants at the base and large predators at the top, in real food webs most animals consume organisms from multiple trophic levels. Moreover, the food consumed by typical predator species is often derived from a combination of plant-based and decomposer-based production, and the species consumed change depending on developmental stage and spatial location. The characterization of ecosystem structure advocated by Polis and Strong (1996) is supported by a wide variety of theoretical and empirical food web studies such as Murdoch (1966), Peters (1977), Darnell (1961), Hanski (1987), Baird and Ulanowicz (1989), Hall and Rafielli (1991), Polis and Holt (1992), Vander Zanden and Vadeboncoeur (2002), and Thompson et al. (2007).

Food web structure in estuarine ecosystems is consistent with the view expressed by Polis and Strong (1996) that food webs are not organized into discrete trophic levels. Striped bass larvae, for example, feed primarily on copepods (Limburg et al. 1998), which are an important component of the zooplankton. Copepods, in turn, feed on both phytoplankton and on decomposer microorganisms growing on the surfaces of organic particles suspended in the water column. Juvenile striped bass feed on copepods, but also on larger invertebrates such as gammarids and chironomids (Gardinier and Hoff 1982). These invertebrates feed on plants and decomposing organic matter; in addition, gammarids are active predators on zooplankton and even fish eggs and larvae (Poje et al. 1988).

Striped bass begin feeding on fish when they reach a length of 76-150 mm, but still feed primarily on invertebrates until they reach a length of about 200 mm (Gardinier and Hoff 1982). Other estuarine fish species similarly feed on a wide variety of organisms at different stages of their life cycles. White perch feed primarily on invertebrates such as gammarids, but also on fish eggs and larvae and even plants (Bath and O'Connor 1985).

Juvenile bluefish prey primarily on smaller fish, but also consume blue crabs and sand shrimp (Juanes et al. 1993; Buckel and Conover 1997). The fish consumed by bluefish include other piscivore species (e.g., striped bass), planktivorous species (e.g., bay anchovy, American shad, and river herring), and benthic invertebrate-feeding species (e.g., white perch and Atlantic tomcod).

Rather than being removed from the food web, entrained forage fish remain within the web and are still available to support fish production. If not immediately consumed by predators, these fish are likely to sink toward the bottom and be consumed by benthic-feeding fish species, or by benthic invertebrates. These benthic species are themselves susceptible to predation, including predation by the same fish species that would have consumed the originally entrained forage fish. If, instead of being consumed, the entrained fish were decomposed by bacteria and fungi, these microorganisms would be susceptible to grazing by invertebrates such as Cladocera, copepods, or gammarids, which would in turn be available for consumption by small fish. Meanwhile, the phytoplankton and zooplankton that would have been consumed by the entrained forage fish would still be available for consumption by other forage fish.

Due to these complex biomass flow pathways, the impacts, if any, of entrainment on forage fish would be diffused throughout the entire ecosystem and would likely be much smaller than impacts predicted by models based on the conventional trophic pyramid concept. Since neither theoretical nor empirical studies have linked entrainment to disruptions in aquatic food webs, any suggestions that cooling water withdrawals have contributed to these disruptions are purely speculative.

The above conclusion does not necessarily apply to impingement. For power plants with fish return systems, impinged fish are returned to the source water body, so these conclusions should apply. However, for power plants without fish return systems, impinged biomass may be permanently removed from the source water body. As in the case of entrainment, no theoretical or empirical studies have linked these biomass removals to disruptions in aquatic food webs, however, it is possible to at least speculate that such effects could occur, if enough biomass were removed.

Port Authority 036666

Section 4: Causes of Fish Population Declines Documented in "Blue Ribbon" Commission Reports

The status of fishery resources, especially marine resources, has been a matter of great national concern for many years. Over the past 20 years many committees have been convened and many reports have been written. This section discusses reports prepared by two especially prestigious organizations, the Pew Oceans Commission and the National Research Council.

4.1 Pew Oceans Commission

In 2003, the Pew Oceans Commission (2003), a blue-ribbon panel that was chaired by former Congressman, former Central Intelligence Agency Director and current Secretary of Defense Leon Panetta and included current NOAA Administrator Dr. Jane Lubchenco, evaluated scientific information and policy options for dealing with nine major threats to marine resources: nonpoint source pollution, point source pollution, invasive species, aquaculture, coastal development, overfishing, habitat alteration, bycatch, and climate change. Most of these same threats were also discussed in a report by the U.S. Commission on Ocean Policy (2004). Neither report mentions cooling water intake structures among the list of problems for which new regulatory policies are needed to protect and enhance marine resources.

The Pew Oceans Commission report was accompanied by supporting reports documenting adverse effects of overfishing, pollution, urban sprawl, invasive species, and aquaculture on marine ecosystems. The report on aquaculture (Goldburg et al. 2003) concluded that impacts of aquaculture facilities on marine ecosystems can be locally significant and they can be minimized through a variety of technologies and management practices. The other impacts addressed in the supporting reports are much more significant and difficult to control.

According to Dayton et al. (2002), worldwide, populations of large-bodied top carnivore species such as tuna, swordfish, salmon, and many sharks, have been drastically depleted by harvesting. As the populations of these species decline, fishermen shift their attention to smaller species, eventually depleting these populations as well. This process, termed "fishing down the food web," reduces the ability of predators to switch among prey species in response to natural

< 4-1 >

fluctuations in abundance, gradually disrupting and truncating trophic relationships. This simplification of food webs can lead to unpredictable changes such as increased disease outbreaks and the proliferation of previously suppressed pests and weedy species. Dayton et al. (2002) also discuss the physical effects of collection gears such as bottom trawls and dredges, and the bycatch of unwanted fish captured and killed by fishermen who are targeting other species.

According to Boesch et al. (2003), nutrient enrichment is the most widespread pollution-related stress on coastal marine resources, affecting two-thirds of the surface area of estuaries and bays in the coterminous United States. Adverse effects of excess nutrients include oxygen depletion and reduced water clarity. Oxygen depletion prevents fish and other organisms from utilizing the affected areas, and reduced clarity reduces the growth of seagrasses and seaweeds that are important habitat for many fish species. Toxic contaminants such as heavy metals, polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and pesticides have more localized distributions but have adversely affected marine resources in many bays and estuaries.

According to Beach (2003), counties bordering the Atlantic, Gulf of Mexico, and Pacific coasts contain 53% of the entire population of the U.S. In 2010, these coastal counties had an average population density of more than 300 persons per square mile, compared to an average density of about 60 persons per square mile for non-coastal counties. Increased densities of roads, parking lots, roofs, and other impervious surfaces increase surface runoff, leading to physical habitat degradation and nonpoint source pollution. Beach (2003) reported that clear correlations have been found between increased surface runoff and impaired biological resources, including fish populations. Since the populations of coastal regions of the U.S. are growing at a faster rate than populations of inland regions, adverse impacts of shoreline development can be expected to grow.

According to Carlton (2003), introduced species of crabs, mussels, clams, jellyfish, seagrasses, and marsh grasses now dominate marine ecosystems from the Hawaiian Islands to New England, and the rate of new introductions shows no sign of decline. In San Francisco Bay alone, one new species became established every 14 weeks between 1961 and 1995, and the Bay is now inhabited by more than 175 introduced marine invertebrates, fish, algae, and higher taxonomic plants. More than 100 introduced species inhabit Pearl Harbor. Recent invaders of Pacific coastal waters include the Japanese mahogany clam, European shore crab, Chinese mitten crab, Asian kelp, and Mediterranean green seaweed. Recent invaders of the Gulf of Mexico and Atlantic coasts include the brown mussel, Pacific spotted jellyfish, Asian whelk, and Asian shore crab. These invaders compete with or prey on native species, causing fundamental impacts on fisheries resources, human welfare, and ecosystem resources and services.

The Pew Oceans Commission report and supporting documents contain many policy recommendations intended to address all of the above impacts, but made no recommendations with respect to cooling water withdrawals at power plants or other industrial facilities.

< 4-2 >

4.2 National Research Council Reports

The U.S. National Research Council has published studies relevant to most of the causes of impacts discussed in the Pew Oceans Commission (2003) report. A National Research Council study (NRC 1995) identified five threats to the biodiversity of marine ecosystems, including overfishing, chemical pollution and eutrophication, physical habitat alteration, invasions of exotic species, and global climate change. The purpose of this study was to develop a research agenda for understanding the causes and consequences of changes in marine biodiversity.

Three studies addressed adverse impacts of overfishing. A 1998 study (NRC 1998) reviewed the adequacy of National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) stock assessments for five New England fish stocks (Gulf of Maine and Georges Bank cod, Georges Bank haddock, and Georges Bank and Southern New England yellowtail flounder). This review was motivated by concerns raised by the New England fishing industry that harvest restrictions imposed on these stocks were too severe and were not supported by sound fisheries science. The review found that NMFS' conclusions were adequately supported by the available information, that all five stocks were severely depressed due to overfishing, and that even more stringent measures might be required to promote recovery of the stocks.

A 1999 study (NRC 1999) addressed the long-term sustainability of marine fish harvesting. Like the Pew Oceans Commission (2003) report, this study documented a variety of adverse impacts of fishing on marine ecosystems, and recommended strategies for managing fisheries in a way that minimizes these impacts.

A 2006 study (NRC 2006) specifically addressed the validity of previously published research concerning ecosystem-level impacts of overfishing large marine predators and of harvesting fish from multiple trophic levels. The study concluded that available evidence supports the validity of this research, and recommended management approaches and research topics intended to promote sustainable harvests from multi-trophic level fisheries.

Two studies addressed impacts of invasive species. A 1996 study (NRC 1996) summarized information documenting the global transport of invasive species in ship ballast water, and discussed technologies and ballast management approaches for reducing this transport. A 2008 study (NRC 2008a) evaluated options for reducing the transport of invasive species into the Great Lakes through the St. Lawrence Seaway while at the same time enhancing the Great Lakes Region's role in global trade.

Two studies addressed inputs of nutrients and hazardous chemical pollutants to coastal marine waters. A 1993 study (NRC 1993) found that urban wastewater management practices were inadequate for protecting coastal marine resources. Nutrients, pathogens, and toxic organic pollutants were identified as high priority concerns. Metals, oils, and plastic debris were identified as medium-priority concerns. The study recommended an integrated strategy for combined

< 4-3 >

management of point source and nonpoint source discharges, together with establishment of water and sediment quality standards that can be used to prioritize pollution control and environmental restoration needs. A 2009 study (NRC 2009) evaluated watershed management options necessary for reducing nutrient loadings to the Gulf of Mexico. Nutrient loading from the Mississippi River watershed has led to eutrophication of a large area of the Gulf of Mexico, with the result that a hypoxic "dead zone" develops during the summer months.

One study (NRC 2008b) addressed a habitat disturbance issue: marine debris. Ingested marine debris, particularly plastics, has been reported in necropsies of birds, turtles, marine mammals, fish, and squid. Besides physically interfering with the digestive systems of organisms, this material can absorb and concentrate toxic chemicals that are then delivered to the organism that ingests it. Additional hazardous marine debris includes abandoned fishing gear which can entangle and injure marine organisms.

No agency has ever asked the NRC to review impacts of power plant I&E on aquatic populations or ecosystems.

Section 5: EPA National Coastal Conditions Reports

The conclusions reached in the reviews discussed in Section 2 are largely supported by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)'s own review of coastal environmental conditions, contained in a series of National Coastal Conditions reports. The third and most recent of these reports, termed "NCCR III," was published in 2008 (USEPA 2008). This report which assesses the condition of all U.S. coastal waters, including Hawaii, south central Alaska, and the Great Lakes, is a collaborative effort involving EPA, NOAA, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, the U.S. Geological Survey, and other agencies representing states and tribes. It is intended to provide a snapshot of coastal conditions in 2001 and 2002. An update, including data collected through 2006, is expected to be published in 2011.

NCCR III, like the two earlier reports, uses five indices to evaluate the quality of coastal conditions: water quality, sediment quality, benthic community composition, coastal habitat condition, and fish tissue contamination. The water quality index is calculated from data on nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations, chlorophyll a concentration, water clarity, and dissolved oxygen concentration. All of these metrics are indicators of eutrophication resulting from excess nutrient inputs. The sediment quality index is calculated from data on contaminant concentrations and total organic carbon (TOC) concentrations in sediment. Contaminant concentrations are indicators of chemical pollution; TOC concentrations are indicators of pollution from untreated or partially treated sewage. The benthic community index is calculated from data on the species composition of benthic invertebrate communities. This metric is an indicator of the general health of benthic communities. The coastal habitat index is calculated from data on the rate of wetland habitat loss, and is an indicator of the impact of shoreline development on coastal ecosystem quality. The fish tissue contaminants index is calculated from data on concentrations of contaminants in fish tissue. This metric is an indicator of the extent of contamination of coastal food webs by bioaccumulative chemicals. In addition to the five coastal condition indices, NCCR III summarizes information on overharvesting of fish species in waters bordering the U.S. coastline.

On a scale of "poor" to "good," NCCR III rated the overall condition of U.S. coastal waters as "fair." With respect to the individual indices, NCCR III rated water quality as being "good to fair" and all other indices as being "fair," "fair to poor," or "poor."

Chapter 9 of NCCR III provides a detailed evaluation of a particular site, Narragansett Bay, with respect to human uses and specific sources of environmental degradation. This is the only chapter that mentions electric power production. The impact of the thermal discharge from the Brayton Point station on the local winter flounder fishery is discussed, but impacts of cooling water withdrawals are not mentioned.

Section 6: Causes of Adverse Impacts Documented in Peer-Reviewed Literature

The peer-reviewed scientific literature documents large, even catastrophic changes in fish populations and communities resulting from eutrophication, invasive species introductions, and overfishing. Case studies documented in this literature are generally consistent with the conclusions of the Pew Oceans Commission (2003), the NRC reports, and the EPA Coastal Conditions reports and many of them were cited in one or more of those reports.

Excess inputs of nitrogen and phosphorus from pollutant discharges and surface runoff, have caused or contributed to major changes to fish communities in many freshwater and estuarine waterbodies (Carpenter et al. 1998). Excess nutrients stimulate blooms of nuisance algae and aquatic weeds. Senescence, death and decomposition of these plants cause oxygen depletion and fish kills. Some algal species release toxins that can cause mass mortalities of fish and shellfish. During the 1960s, the bottom waters Lake Erie were so severely affected by reduced oxygen levels that the lake was widely believed to be "dead or dying" (Kerr and Ryder 1997). In addition to causing oxygen depletion, eutrophication promotes shifts in aquatic food chains. Caddy (1993) noted that the fish community of the Great Lakes has shifted from dominance by benthic-feeding species such as sturgeon, bass, and perches to dominance by plankton-feeding species such as alewife, gizzard shad, and rainbow smelt. Similar shifts from benthic-based to plankton-based food chains have been observed in semi-enclosed marine water bodies such as the Baltic Sea, the Mediterranean Sea, and the Black Sea that have been affected by eutrophication (Caddy 1993).

Introductions of non-native species have also caused substantial harm to fish communities in many water bodies. According to Kerr and Ryder (1997), 139 non-native species have been introduced to the Great Lakes, and of these at least 13 have caused ecologically significant changes. Parasitism by sea lamprey that invaded the Great Lakes following the opening of the St. Lawrence Seaway caused the near-extinction of native lake trout. Alewife, another exotic, has displaced native species both through competition and through predation on early life stages of other fish (Madenjian et al. 2008). Recreational and commercial fisheries in the Great Lakes are now dominated by non-native salmonids, which were introduced to replace the depleted lake trout populations

< 6-1 >

and control the non-native forage fish populations. The recent invasion of the Great Lakes by the zebra mussel *Dresseina polymorpha* has caused additional changes due to the ability of these organisms to efficiently filter phytoplankton and suspended organic matter from the water column, depleting the waterbody of resources important for native species of larval fishes and other aquatic life (Mills et al. 2003). Round goby *Neogobius melanostomus*, originally found in the Great Lakes in 1990, is now common in all of the Lakes and dominates the near-shore habitat of parts of Lakes Erie and Ontario, displacing native species (Jude 1997). Round goby are also now one of the top 5 species of larvae entrained by power plants on the Great Lakes (EPRI 2011) indicating the ability of a species to significantly increase in abundance despite the presence of entrainment losses.

Invasions of non-native species have also greatly altered biological communities in the San Francisco Bay area. The invasion of the Asian clam *Potamocorbula amurensis* is especially well documented (Nichols et al. 1990, Carlton et al. 1990). From a small local population established in Suisun Bay in 1986, this clam spread throughout the bay area within two years and became the dominant benthic filter-feeder in Suisun Bay and San Pablo Bay. As noted by Carlton et al. (1990), *P. amurensis* is only one of many species that have been deliberately or accidentally introduced to the bay, many in ballast water discharged by transoceanic shipping vessels.

On a global scale, many scientists now believe that overharvesting may be the greatest cause of harm to the structure and function of marine fish communities. Myers and Worm (2003) recently found that harvesting has reduced the worldwide biomass of large, predatory fish by 90% from the levels that were present prior to the introduction of modern fishing technologies. These predators play an important role both in controlling the abundance of other species and in controlling the pathways through which energy and biomass move through marine food webs (Steele and Schumacher 2000, Jackson et al. 2001, Daskalov 2002). Reducing the abundance of large predators leads to increased abundance of forage fish and pelagic invertebrates (e.g., jellyfish), decreased abundance of zooplankton, and increased abundance of phytoplankton and suspended organic matter (Steele and Schumacher 2000). Many of these changes are similar to, and nearly indistinguishable from, changes in food web structure caused by eutrophication (Jackson et al. 2001, Daskalov 2002). Overharvesting of demersal (bottom-dwelling) predators such as cod, haddock, and yellow flounder in the North Atlantic during the 1980s led to replacement of these species by small sharks and skates (Fogarty and Murawski 1998). Subsequent overharvesting of sharks and skates apparently has led to an increase in the abundance of pelagic species such as herring and mackerel, which are important prey species for demersal predators such as cod and spiny dogfish.

The changes observed in the fish communities present in lakes and coastal water bodies are often a result of a combination of stressors. For example, Lotze and Milewski (2004) have documented the profound effects of nutrient loading, harvesting, and habitat change on the fish communities of the Quoddy Region, Bay of Fundy since the arrival of the first European colonists. Mills et al. (2003) documented causes of changes in the Lake Ontario food web that occurred over

< 6-2 >

the period 1970-2000. These authors found that reductions in phosphorus loading, stocking of salmonids, sea lamprey control, harvesting, predation by cormorants, climate change, and the zebra mussel invasion have interacted to produce major changes in the fish community.

Port Authority 036676

Section 7: Causes of Adverse Changes in Specific Fish Populations

This section summarizes current understanding concerning causes of declines in the abundance of specific fish populations. Most of the information comes from stock assessments performed by NMFS, regional fisheries commissions, and other resource management agencies, however, in some cases these agency-driven assessments are supported by peer-reviewed literature. The emphasis on marine fish populations reflects the fact that the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act of 1976 (MSA) requires agencies to assess the status of these populations. Information on freshwater fish populations, including most Great Lakes fish populations, is less complete but is discussed where data are available. This section summarizes the status of harvested fish species that have been identified as being susceptible to E&I (EPRI 2011), and for which recent information on stock status is available.

7.1 Atlantic Striped Bass (Morone saxatilis)

Striped bass was the first and most intensively studied fish species for which concerns about adverse impacts of I&E were raised (Barnthouse et al. 1984). The research program initiated to address potential impacts on the Hudson River striped bass population is still one of the most comprehensive fisheries-related environmental assessment studies that has ever been performed (Barnthouse et al. 1988). Concurrently, investigations into the causes of the catastrophic decline in abundance of Chesapeake Bay striped bass (Richards and Rago 1999) led to recognition of overfishing as the principal cause of the decline and to major changes in management approaches for striped bass and other Atlantic coastal fish populations. The rapid increase in abundance of the Chesapeake, Delaware, and Hudson River striped bass populations that occurred following the threeyear moratorium on striped bass harvests that was instituted in 1986 was widely reported in the popular press and is fully documented in stock assessment reports published by the Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission (ASMFC). However, recent declines in abundance of adult striped bass, in particular a decline in the abundance of large striped bass in northern New England, have raised concerns about the health of the Chesapeake Bay population, which is the primary source of these fish. Poor water quality and increased disease incidence are suspected as contributing causes. In response to these concerns, the ASMFC has initiated the development of an addendum to the Interstate Striped Bass Management Plan that would reduce harvesting and promote population growth (ASMFC News Release, March 24, 2011).

7.2 American Shad (Alosa sapidissima)

American shad is an anadromous fish species native to the U.S. Atlantic coast. Most rivers along the Atlantic coast historically supported distinct American shad populations, and this species has been harvested by fishermen since colonial times (Limburg et al. 2003). Shad landings peaked at nearly 25,000 metric tons in 1896, but have since declined to a very small fraction of that value. Fisheries, dams, and pollution of spawning and rearing habitat have all contributed to these declines (Limburg et al. 2003). Since 1985, the abundance of several of the most important American shad spawning stocks, including the Connecticut River and Hudson River stocks, have continued to decline in spite of improvements in water quality and actions taken to remove barriers to upstream migration. A stock assessment performed by the ASMFC (2007) concluded that the mortality rate of this species had increased to an unsustainable level, but was unable to conclusively identify the cause of the increase. The two hypotheses being actively considered are (1) incidental catches in fisheries directed at other species and (2) predation by striped bass.

7.3 River Herring (Alosa pseudoharengus and A. aestivalis)

Alewife and blueback herring, collectively termed "river herring," are closely related to American shad. Like American shad, river herring are anadromous and have in the past been adversely affected by dams, pollution, and overfishing. Also like American shad, the abundance of spawning stocks in many East Coast rivers has declined to very low levels in recent years (ASMFC 2009). Because of lack of data, it has not been possible to identify the cause(s) of the decline in river herring abundance. Savoy and Crecco (2004) concluded that predation by striped bass is the most strongly supported explanation for the decline in abundance of both river herring and American shad in the Connecticut River. Similarly, Heimbuch (2008) found that the increase in prey consumption by the Hudson River's growing striped bass population is sufficient to explain the observed decline in abundance of juvenile river herring in the Hudson. However, overfishing and bycatch of river herring in fisheries targeting other species may also be contributors.

7.4 Winter Flounder (Pseudopleuronectes americanus)

Winter flounder spawn in inshore waters, including bays, coastal salt ponds, and tidal rivers from the Middle Atlantic States to Newfoundland. Larvae and juveniles are found in these same habitats. Adult winter flounder are found inshore during winter and spring, but move offshore to deeper, cooler water during summer. They are on of the top five species of fish impinged at power plants in the Northeastern Region (EPRI 2011). For management purposes, the National Marine Fisheries Service recognizes three distinct stocks of winter flounder: a Georges Bank (GB) stock, a Gulf of Maine (GOM) stock, and a Southern New England-Mid Atlantic (SNEMA) stock. Abundances and harvests of all three stocks have greatly declined since 1980. The NMFS Northeast Fisheries Science Center most recently completed assessments of the status of all three stocks in 2008 (NEFSC 2008). The GB and GOM winter

flounder assessments concluded that these stocks are being overfished. The SNEMA stock was found to be severely depleted, with fishing mortality still far above a sustainable level.

7.5 Weakfish (Cynoscion regalis)

Weakfish spawn offshore near the mouths of estuaries and coastal rivers from Florida to New England. They are one of the top 5 species of fish impinged at power plants in the Northeastern Coastal Region (EPRI 2011). For management purposes, all weakfish are considered to be part of a single coastwide stock. The NMFS Northeast Fisheries Science Center completed an updated stock assessment in 2009 (NEFSC 2009). This assessment concluded that the abundance of weakfish declined by approximately 80% from 1999 to 2008. Several hypotheses that could explain this decline were investigated using statistical models and supporting empirical evidence. Overfishing was ruled out as a contributor, because fishing mortality rates on weakfish have been stable or declining in recent years. The decline in stock productivity was also deemed too large to be accounted for by unreported landings and discards. Rising sea surface temperatures were eliminated as a potential cause, because water temperature shifts were not significantly linked to increased juvenile weakfish mortality. Disease, toxins, and parasitism were also investigated, but no evidence linking these stressors to weakfish production was found. The assessment identified enhanced predation by striped bass and spiny dogfish, especially on age 0 weakfish as the most likely cause, although statistical correlations are the only evidence supporting this conclusion. The weakfish stock has been classified as "depleted" by the ASMFC, even though it is not considered to be overfished.

7.6 Red Drum (Sciaenops ocellatus)

The red drum is found in estuarine and nearshore coastal waters of the Gulf of Mexico and the eastern seaboard. The species is most abundant along the Gulf of Mexico and South Atlantic coasts. Spawning peaks in September and October, in nearshore waters, in the vicinity of passes (gaps between barrier islands), and in estuaries (Murphy and Taylor 1990). The South Atlantic red drum stock consists of two substocks: a northern region substock, found in coastal waters from North Carolina northward to New Jersey, and a southern region substock found from South Carolina to southern Florida. The most recent stock assessment for Atlantic red drum was completed in 2009 (South Atlantic Fishery Management Council 2009). The coastal red drum population was severely depleted by overfishing during the 1980s, and since that time commercial harvesting has been greatly restricted. At present, harvesting is permitted only within length windows that vary slightly between regions and states (e.g., 18 to 27 inches total length from North Carolina northward, 14 to 27 inches total length from South Carolina southward). According to the most recent assessment, Atlantic red drum is no longer being overfished, and the abundances of both the northern region and southern region substocks are increasing.

The last available stock assessment for Gulf of Mexico red drum was completed in 1999 (Porch 2000). According to this assessment, the abundance of Gulf of Mexico red drum declined greatly from the 1970s through the 1990s. Although harvest restrictions had been imposed, significant recovery of the population had not occurred.

7.7 Atlantic Menhaden (Brevoortia tyrannus)/Gulf Menhaden (B. patronus)

Atlantic menhaden and gulf menhaden are closely related species that are among the most abundant and commercially important marine fish species in North America. Atlantic menhaden is common along the Atlantic coast from the northern Gulf of Maine to central Florida. Gulf menhaden is common along the Gulf of Mexico coast from Louisiana to southeastern Florida. Adult menhaden occur primarily in large schools, and undergo seasonal migrations along the coast. At the northern end of the range of Atlantic menhaden some spawning occurs in estuaries and bays, but throughout most of the range of both species spawning occurs at sea. After hatching, larvae are transported to estuarine nursery areas by onshore and along-shore currents. Most menhaden enter estuaries as juveniles and remain there throughout the growing season. Most commercial harvesting of menhaden occurs at sea, although active bait fisheries exist in major estuaries such as Chesapeake Bay. They are the most common fish impinged at power plants in the Northeastern Coastal Region (EPRI 2011).

The most recent stock assessment for Atlantic menhaden (ASMFC 2011) concluded that fishing mortality on this population has reached the overfishing threshold. Moreover, the number of young menhaden entering the population has been declining. The ASMFC has initiated the development of an addendum to the Interstate Fisheries Management Plan for Atlantic menhaden that would promote their increased abundance and reproduction. An increase is desired not only to promote the sustainability of the Atlantic menhaden stock, but also to provide adequate prey for predators such as bluefish, striped bass, and weakfish.

The most recent stock assessment for Gulf menhaden concluded that this species is fully exploited but relatively stable.

7.8 Atlantic Croaker (Micropogonias undulatus)

The Atlantic croaker occurs in estuarine and nearshore coastal waters between Mexico and Massachusetts. Spawning occurs along the continental shelf, with larvae and early juveniles being transported to estuarine nursery areas by onshore and along-shore currents. Both juveniles and adults are abundant in estuaries and nearshore waters. They are one of the top five species of fish impinged at power plants in the Mid-Atlantic Coastal Region (EPRI 2011). Atlantic croaker is harvested in mixed-stock fisheries, using a variety of gears. The most recent stock assessment (ASMFC 2010) concluded that fishing mortality for this species is relatively low and that the abundance of the coastal stock has been increasing since the 1980s.

7.9 Pacific Rockfishes (Scorpaenidae)

More than 90 species of groundfish (fish that live on or near the bottom) are managed by the Pacific Fisheries Management Council. Of these, more than 60 species are "rockfishes" belonging to the family *Scorpaenidae*. Rockfishes typically have low natural mortality, high longevity, and low rates of reproduction. These life history characteristics make them susceptible to overfishing. According to the Pacific Fisheries Management Council (2008), many rockfish stocks were severely depleted by overfishing between 1950 and 1990.

The 2008 Pacific coast groundfish stock assessment (PFMC 2008) listed 7 rockfish stocks as being depleted: bocaccio (*Sebastes paucispinis*), canary rockfish (*S. pinniger*), cowcod (*S. levis*), darkblotched rockfish (*S. crameri*), Pacific ocean perch (*S. alutus*), widow rockfish (*S. entomelas*), and yelloweye rockfish (*S. ruberrimus*). Abundances of all 7 species were reduced below the depletion threshold defined by the Council between 1990 and 1995. As required by the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act, rebuilding plans for all species were developed and harvests were restricted. According to the 2008 assessment, fishing mortality rates on all species are now below the target fishing mortality rates specified by the Council Spawning stock sizes of all species except the cowcod are now growing at rates consistent with their rebuilding plans.

7.10 Lake Whitefish (Coregonus clupeaformis)

The lake whitefish has historically been one of the most valued commercial fish species in the Great Lakes. Whitefish abundance and harvests in all five Great Lakes began to decline in the 1940s, and reached all-time lows in the 1960s and early 1970s. Although overfishing is believed to have been a major cause of decline, other factors were also important. Sea lamprey predation, competition and predation by introduced planktivores (e.g., alewife, rainbow smelt, and white perch), and nutrient enrichment were also contributing causes (Nalepa et al. 2005). Measures taken to address these stressors included harvest restrictions, lamprey control, introduction of salmonids to suppress planktivore populations, and control of phosphorus inputs. As a result of these multiple management actions, whitefish populations in all five lakes recovered by 1990 (Nalepa et al. 2005).

A new threat to lake whitefish populations, however, has appeared. The zebra mussel (*Dresseina polymorpha*) was first discovered in Lake St. Clair in 1988 and soon spread to all of the Great Lakes. The spread of zebra mussels is believed to be linked to a decline in the abundance of the benthic invertebrate *Diporeia*, a major food source for whitefish (Nalepa et al. 2005). A decline in *Diporeia* abundance beginning in the 1990s was closely followed by declines in the growth rates, condition factors, and abundance of whitefish, especially in Lake Michigan and Lake Ontario. These declines are not uniform, and vary both between lakes and between basins within lakes. In addition to declines in abundance, changes in the spatial distribution of whitefish have occurred in Lakes Michigan, Huron,

and Ontario. Hypotheses proposed to explain these changes include increased surface-water temperatures associated with climate change, increased light penetration due to phytoplankton filtration by zebra mussels, and the loss of *Diporeia* (Nalepa et al. 2005).

Section 8: Summary

The diverse literature discussed in this report, including studies of both marine and freshwater ecosystems throughout North America, consistently identifies overfishing, habitat destruction, pollution, and invasive species as being the predominant causes of past and present impairment of fish populations and the ecosystems that support them. In those few cases where impacts of I&E have been specifically investigated, such impacts have rarely been found. Some modelbased studies (Nisbet et al. 1996; Perry et al. 2003) have suggested that potentially significant impacts might occur, but in only one study, of clinid kelpfish entrained at the Diablo Canyon Power Plant (Ehler et al., 2003), have authors cited empirical data to support a conclusion that a significant impact of I&E on a local population may be occurring. Even in this case other authors (White et al. 2010) have found that the method used to reach this conclusion is flawed and overstates impacts.

It is difficult to compare I&E to most of the stressors addressed in this report. I&E do not physically alter the ability of habitat to support fish, either because of physical or chemical alteration. I&E is comparable to fishing, however, in that both processes act through removal of fish from populations. Although I&E generally remove fish at an earlier age than does fishing, impacts of both can be expressed in terms of annual mortality rates, which then can be compared. For example, Barnthouse et al. (2003b) estimated that impingement and entrainment of weakfish at the Salem Nuclear Generating Station was equivalent, in terms of impact on the coastal weakfish population, to raising the rate of fishing mortality from the ASMFC-approved target fishing rate of 0.5 to 0.517, a change too small to be detected using typical fisheries data and assessment methods.

A simple example serves to illustrate why fishing is such a powerful influence on fish populations, as compared to I&E. Boreman and Goodyear (1988) estimated that entrainment mortality of striped bass due to all Hudson River power plants in 1974 and 1975 to range from 0.068 to 0.13, equivalent to reducing the sizes of the 1974 and 1975 year classes by 6.8% to 13%. No estimates of fishing mortality for striped bass during this period are available, however, the current target fishing mortality rate established by the ASMFC is 0.3 (ASMFC 2003). The cumulative impact of harvesting a year class of fish over many years is far larger than the impact of a single year of mortality due to I&E. Hudson River striped bass are susceptible to entrainment for only a few months, and to impingement primarily during their first year of life. In contrast, once they have entered the fishery, they remain susceptible to fishermen for the remainder of their lifespan that is typically 12 to 15 years and may be as long as 30 years. This mortality,

which is believed by the ASMFC to be sustainable, is equivalent to an exploitation rate of 0.24, i.e., removing 24% of the entire population every year.

It is often said that it is impossible to prove a negative. Although adverse impacts due to I&E have not been conclusively documented in published studies, this absence does not prove that adverse impacts are not occurring or could never occur. However, the limited documentation of such impacts, after 40 years of operation of large power plants, some of which have been conducting extensive monitoring programs for several decades, provides substantial evidence that any such impacts are small compared to impacts identified by the Pew Oceans Commission (2003) and other sources as being major threats. Most importantly, there is no peer-reviewed scientific evidence to support a conclusion that reducing I&E via regulation of cooling water intakes will result in measurable improvements in recreational or commercial fish populations or ecological services.

Section 9: References

- 1. Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission (ASMFC). 2003. Amendment 6 to the Interstate Fishery Management Plan for Atlantic striped bass. Fishery management report No. 41. Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission, Washington, D.C.
- ASMFC. 2007. American Shad Stock Assessment Report for Peer Review. Stock Assessment Report No. 07-01 (Supplement) of the Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission. 3 Volumes. Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission, Washington, D.C.
- 3. ASMFC. 2009. Amendment 2 to the Interstate Fisheries Management Plan for Shad and River Herring. Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission, Washington, D.C.
- 4. ASMFC. 2010. Atlantic croaker benchmark stock assessment. Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission, Washington, D.C.
- 5. ASMFC. 2011. Atlantic menhaden stock assessment and review panel reports. Stock assessment report no. 10-02 of the Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission.
- 6. Baird, D., and R. L. Ulanowicz. 1989. The seasonal dynamics of the Chesapeake Bay ecosystem. *Ecological Monographs* 59:329-364.
- 7. Barnthouse, L. W., J. Boreman, S. W. Christensen, C. P. Goodyear, W. Van Winkle, and D.S. Vaughan. 1984. Population biology in the courtroom: the Hudson River controversy. *Bioscience* 34:14-19.
- Barnthouse, L.W., R. J. Klauda, D. S. Vaughan, and R. L. Kendall (eds.) 1988a. Science, Law, and Hudson River Power Plants: a Case Study in Environmental Impact Assessment. American Fisheries Society Monograph 4. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland, U.S.A.
- Barnthouse, L. W., J. Boreman, T. S. Englert, W. L. Kirk, and E. G. Horn. 1988b. Hudson River settlement agreement: technical rationale and cost considerations. *American Fisheries Society Monograph* 4:267-273.
- 10. Barnthouse, L. W., D. Glaser, and J. Young. 2003a. Effects of historic PCB exposures on the reproductive success of the Hudson River striped bass population. *Environmental Science and Technology* 37:223-228.
- Barnthouse, L. W., D. G. Heimbuch, V. C. Anthony, R. W. Hilborn, and R. A. Myers. 2003b. Indicators of AEI applied to the Delaware Estuary. Pp. 165-184 in Dixon, D. A., J. A. Veil, and J. Wisniewski (eds.) *Defining*

and Assessing Adverse Environmental Impact from Power Plant Impingement and Entrainment of Aquatic Organisms. A. A. Balkema Publishers, Lisse, The Netherlands.

- 12. Barnthouse, L. W., D. Glaser, and L. DeSantis. 2009. Polychlorinated biphenyls and Hudson River whiter perch: Implications for population-level risk assessment and risk management. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management* 5:435-444.
- 13. Bath, D. W., and J. M. O'Connor. 1985. Food preferences of white perch in the Hudson River estuary. *New York Fish and Game Journal* 32:63-70.
- Beach, D. 2003. Coastal sprawl: The effects of urban design on aquatic ecosystems in the United States. Prepared for the Pew Oceans Commission.
- 15. Boesch, D. F., R. H. Burroughs, J. E. Baker, R. P. Mason, C. L. Rowe, and R. L. Siefert. 2003. Marine pollution in the United States. Prepared for the Pew Oceans Commission.
- 16. Boreman, J., C. P. Goodyear, and S. W. Christensen. 1981. An empirical methodology for estimating entrainment losses at power plants sited on estuaries. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **110**:255-262.
- 17. Boreman, J., and C. P. Goodyear. 1988. Estimates of entrainment mortality for striped bass and other fish species inhabiting the Hudson River estuary. *American Fisheries Society Monograph* 4: 152-160.
- 18. Buckel, J. A., and D. O. Conover. 1997. Movements, feeding period, and daily ration of piscivorous young-of-the-year bluefish *Pomatomus saltatrix* in the Hudson River estuary. *Fishery Bulletin* **95**:665-679.
- 19. Caddy, J. F. 1993. Toward a comparative evaluation of human impacts on fishery ecosystems of enclosed and semi-enclosed seas. *Reviews in Fisheries Science* 1:57-95.
- Carlton, J. T., J. K. Thompson, L. E. Schemel, and F. H. Nichols. 1990. Remarkable invasion of San Francisco Bay by the Asian clam *Potamocorbula amurensis*. I. Introduction and dispersal. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 66:81-94.
- 21. Carlton, J. T. 2003. Introduced species in U. S. coastal waters: environmental impacts and management priorities. Prepared for the Pew Oceans Commission.
- 22. Carpenter, S. R., N. F. Caraco, D. L. Correll, R. W. Howarth, A. N. Sharpley, and V. H. Smith. 1998. Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. *Ecological Applications* 8:559-568.
- Daily, G. C. 1997. Introduction: What are ecosystem services? pp. 1-11 in Daily, G. C. (ed.) Nature's Services: Societal Dependence on Natural Ecosystems. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- 24. Darnell, R. M. 1961. Trophic spectrum of an estuarine community, based on studies of Lake Ponchartrain, Louisiana. *Ecology* **42**:553-568.

< 9-2 >

- 25. Daskalov, G. M. 2002. Overfishing drives a trophic cascade in the Black Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 225:53-63.
- 26. Dayton, P. K., S. Thrush, and F. C. Coleman. 2002. Ecological effects of fishing in marine ecosystems of the United States. Prepared for the Pew Oceans Commission.
- 27. Ehler, C. P., J. R. Steinbeck, E. A. Laman, J. B. Hedgepeth, J. R. Skalski, and D. L. Mayer. 2003. A process for evaluating adverse environmental impact by cooling-water system entrainment at a California power plant. pp. 79-102 in Dixon, D. A., J. A. Veil, and J. Wisniewski (eds.) *Defining* and Assessing Adverse Environmental Impact from Power Plant Impingement and Entrainment of Aquatic Organisms. A. A. Balkema Publishers, Lisse, The Netherlands.
- Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI). 2003. Impacts of Volumetric Flow Rate of Water Intakes on Fish Populations and Communities. Palo Alto, CA, EPRI Report 1005178
- 29. EPRI. 2004. Extrapolating impingement and entrainment losses to equivalent adults and production foregone. Palo Alto, CA, EPRI Report No. 1008471.
- EPRI. 2011. Summary of Impingement and Entrainment Results Based on an Industry-Wide §316(b) Phase II Facility Survey. Palo Alto, CA. EPRI Report 1019861
- Fogarty, M. J., and S. A. Murawski. 1998. Large-scale disturbance and the structure of marine ecosystems. *Ecological Applications* 8(1) Supplement: S6-S22.
- 32. Gardinier, M. and T. B. Hoff. 1982. Diet of striped bass in the Hudson River estuary. *New York Fish and Game Journal*. 29:152-165.
- 33. Goldburg, R. J., M. S. Elliott, and R. A. Nayor. 2003. Marine aquaculture in the United States. Prepared for the Pew Oceans Commission.
- Greenwood, M. F. D. 2008. Fish mortality by impingement on the cooling-water intake screens of England's largest direct-cooled power plant. Marine Pollution Bulletin 6:723-739.
- 35. Hall, S. J., and D. Rafielli 1991. Food-web patterns: Lessons from a species-rich web. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **60**:823-841.
- 36. Hanski, I. 1987. Plankton that don't obey the rules. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 2:350-351.
- Heimbuch. D. G. 2008. Potential effects of striped bass predation on juvenile fish in the Hudson River. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 137:1591-1605
- Heimbuch, D. G., D. J. Dunning, Q. E. Ross, and A. F. Blumberg. 2007a. Assessing potential effects of entrainment and impingement on fish stocks of the New York New Jersey Harbor Estuary and Long Island Sound. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 136: 492-508.

- Heimbuch, D. G., E. Lorda, D. Vaughan, L. W. Barnthouse, J. Uphoff, W. Van Winkle, A. Kahnle, B. Young, J. Young, and L. Kline. 2007b. Assessing coastwide effects of power plant entrainment and impingement on fish populations: Atlantic menhaden example. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 27:569-577.
- 40. Henderson, P. A., A. W. H. Turnpenny, and R. N. Bamber. 1984. Longterm stability of a sand smelt (*Atherina presbyter* Cuvier) population subject to power station cropping. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 21:1-10.
- 41. Holmlund, C. M., and M. Hammer. 1999. Ecosystem services generated by fish populations. *Ecological Economics* 29:253-268.
- Jackson, J.B.C., M. X. Kirby, W. H. Berger, K. A. Bjorndal, L. W. Botsford, B. J. Bourque, R. H. Bradbury, R. Cooke, J. Erlandson, J. A. Estes, T. P. Hughes, S. Kidwell, C. B. Lange, H. S. Lenihan, J. M. Pandolfi, C. H. Peterson, R. S. Steneck, M. J. Tegner, and R. R. Warner. 2001. Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Science* 293:629-638.
- 43. Jensen, A. L. 1982. Impact of a once-through cooling system on the yellow perch stock in the western basin of Lake Erie. *Ecological Modelling* 15:127-144.
- 44. Jensen, A. L., S. A. Spigarelli, and M. M. Thommes. 1982. Use of conventional fishery models to assess entrainment and impingement of three Lake Michigan fish species. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **111**:21-34.
- 45. Juanes, F., R. E. Marks, K. A. McKown, and D. O. Conover. 1993. Predation by age-0 bluefish on age-0 anadromous fishes in the Hudson River estuary. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **122**:348-356.
- 46. Kerr, S. R., and R. A. Ryder. 1997. The Laurentian Great Lakes experience: a prognosis for the fisheries of Atlantic Canada. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 54:1190-1197.
- Jacobson, P. M., D. A. Dixon, W. C. Leggett, B. C. Marcy, Jr., and R. R. Massengill (eds.) 2004. The Connecticut River Ecological Study (1965-1973) Revisited: Ecology of the Lower Connecticut River 1973-2003. *American Fisheries Society Monograph* 9.
- 48. Jude, D.J., 1997. Round gobies: Cyberfish of the third millennium. *Great Lakes Research Review* 3:27-34.
- 49. Limburg, K. E., M. L. Pace, and K. K. Arend. 1998. Growth, mortality, and recruitment of larval *Morone* spp. in relation to food availability and temperature in the Hudson River. *Fishery Bulletin* 97:80-91.
- Limburg, K. E., K. A. Hattala, and A. Kahnle. 2003. American shad in its native range. pp. 125-140 in K. E. Limburg and J. R. Waldman (eds.) *Biodiversity, status, and conservation of the world's shads.* American Fisheries Society Symposium 35, Bethesda, MD. Lindeman, R. L. 1942. The trophic-dynamic aspect of ecology. *Ecology* 23:399-417.

- 51. Lorda, E., D. L. Danila, and J. D. Miller. 2000. Application of a population dynamics model to the probabilistic assessment of cooling water intake effects of Millstone Nuclear Power Station (Waterford, CT) on a nearby winter flounder spawning stock. *Environmental Science & Policy* 3:S471-S482.
- 52. Lotze, H. K., and I. Milewski. 2004. Two centuries of multiple human impacts and successive changes in a North Atlantic food web. *Ecological Applications* 14:1428-1447
- 53. Madenjian, C. P., R. O'Gorman, D. B. Bunnell, R. L. Argyle, E. F. Roseman, D. M. Warner, J. D. Stockwell, and M. A. Stapanian. 2008. Adverse effects of alewives on Laurentian Great Lakes fish communities. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 28:263-282.
- 54. Millenium Ecosystem Assessment 2005. *Ecosystems and Human Well-being:* Synthesis. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- 55. Mills, E. L., J. M. Casselman, R. Dermott, J. D. Fitzsimons, G. Gal, K. T. Holeck, J. A. Hoyle, O. E. Johannsson, B. F. Lantry, J. C. Makarewicz, E. S. Millard, I. F. Munawar, M. Munawar, R. O'Gorman, R. W. Owens, L. G. Rudstam, T. Schaner, and T. J. Stewart. 2003. Lake Ontario food web dynamics in a changing ecosystem (1970-2000). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 60:471-490.
- 56. Murdoch, W. W. 1966. "Community structure, population control, and competition" a critique. *The American Naturalist* 100:219-226.
- 57. Murphy, M. D., and R. G. Taylor. 1990. Reproduction, growth, and mortality of red drum *Sciaenops ocellatus* in Florida waters. *Fishery Bulletin* 88:5321-542.
- 58. Myers, R. A., and B. Worm. 2003. Rapid worldwide depletion of predatory fish communities. *Nature* **423**:280-283.
- 59. Nalepa, T. F., L. C. Mohr, B. A. Henderson, C. P. Madenjian, and P. J. Schneeberger. 2005. Lake whitefish and *Diporeia* spp. in the Great Lakes: an overview. pp. 3-20 in Mohr, L. C., and T. F. Nalepa (eds.) Proceedings of a workshop on the status of lake whitefish (*Coregonus clupeaformis*) and the amphipod *Diporeia* spp. in the Great Lakes. Technical Report 66, Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Ann Arbor, MI.
- 60. National Research Council (NRC). 1993. Managing Wastewater in Coastal Urban Areas. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 496 p.
- 61. NRC. 1995. Understanding Marine Biodiversity. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 128 p.
- 62. NRC. 1996. Stemming the Tide: Controlling Introductions of Non-indigenous Species in Ships' Ballast Water. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 160 p.
- 63. NRC. 1998. Review of Northeast Fishery Stock Assessments. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 136 p.

- 64. NRC. 1999. Sustaining Marine Fisheries. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 167 pp.
- 65. NRC. 2006. Dynamic Changes in Marine Ecosystems: Fishing Food Webs, and Future Options. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 154 p.
- 66. NRC. 2008a. Great Lakes Shipping, Trade, and Aquatic Invasive Species: Special Report 291. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 148 p.
- 67. NRC. 2008b. *Tackling Marine Debris in the 21st Century*. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 218 p.
- 68. NRC. 2009. Nutrient Control Actions for Improving Water Quality in the Mississippi River Basin and Northern Gulf of Mexico. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. 94 p.
- 69. Newbold, S. C., and R. Iovanna. 2007. Ecological effects of densityindependent mortality: application to cooling-water intake structures. *Ecological Applications* 17:390-406.
- Nichols, F. H., J. K. Thompson, and L. E. Schemel. 1990. Remarkable invasion of San Francisco Bay by the Asian clam *Potamocorbula amurensis*. II. Displacement of a former community. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 66:95-101.
- Nisbet, R. M., W. W. Murdoch, and A. Stewart-Oaten. 1996. Consequences for adult fish stocks of human-induced mortality on immatures. pp. 257-277 In: R. J. Schmitt and C. W. Osenberg, eds., *Detecting Ecological Impacts: Concepts and Applications in Coastal Habitats*. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Nichols, F. H., J. K. Thompson, and L. E. Schemel. 1990. Remarkable invasion of San Francisco Bay by the Asian clam *Potamocorbula amurensis*. II. Displacement of a former community. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 66:95-101.
- 73. Northeast Fisheries Science Center (NEFSC). 2008. Assessment of 19 northeast groundfish stocks through 2007: Report of the 3rd groundfish assessment review meeting (GARM III). NEFSC Reference Document 08-15 Available from: National Marine Fisheries Service, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026, or online at http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/
- 74. NEFSC. 2009. 48th Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop (48th SAW) Assessment Summary Report. US Department of Commerce, Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document 09-10. 50p. Available from: National Marine Fisheries Service, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026, or online at <u>http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/</u>
- 75. Pacific Fishery Management Council (PFMC). 2008. Stock assessment and fishery evaluation. Part 1. Description of the fishery. Pacific Fishery Management Council, Portland OR. Available online at www.pcouncil.org

- 76. Perry, E., G. Seegert, J. Vondruska, T. Loehner, and R. Lewis. 2003. Modeling possible cooling-water intake system impacts on Ohio River fish populations. Pp. 56-78 in Dixon, D. A., J. A. Veil, and J. Wisniewski (eds.) Defining and Assessing Adverse Environmental Impact from Power Plant Impingement and Entrainment of Aquatic Organisms. A. A. Balkema Publishers, Lisse, The Netherlands.
- 77. Peters, R. H. 1977. The unpredictable problem of tropho-dynamics. Environmental Biology of Fishes 2:97-101.
- 78. Pew Oceans Commission. 2003. America's living oceans: Charting a course for change. Washington DC.
- 79. Poje, G. V., S. A. Riordan, and J. M. O'Connor. 1988. Food habits of the amphipod *Gammarus tigrinus* in the Hudson River and the effects of diet upon its growth and reproduction. Pp. 255-270 in C. L. Smith (ed.) *Fisheries Research in the Hudson River*. State University of New York Press, Albany, NY.
- 80. Polis, G. A., and R. D. Holt. 1992. Intraguild predation: The dynamics of complex trophic interactions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 7:151-154.
- 81. Polis, G. A., and D. R. Strong. 1996. Food web complexity and community dynamics. *The American Naturalist* 147:813-846.
- Porch, C. E. 2000. Status of the red drum stocks of the Gulf of Mexico. V. 2.1. Sustainable Fisheries Division Contribution: SFD-99/00-85. Southeast Fishery Research Center, Miami, FL.
- 83. Rago, P. J. 1984. Production foregone: an alternative method for assessing the consequences of fish entrainment and impingement losses at power plants and other water intakes. *Ecological Modelling* 24:79-111.
- Richards, R. A., and P. J. Rago. 1999. A case history of effective fishery management: Chesapeake Bay striped bass. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 19:356-375.
- 85. Saila, S. B., E. Lorda, J. D. Miller, R. A. Sher, and W. H. Howell. 1997. Equivalent adult estimates for losses of fish eggs, larvae, and juveniles at Seabrook Station with use of fuzzy logic to represent parametric uncertainty. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 17:811-825.
- Savoy, T. F., and V. A. Crecco. 2004. Factors affecting the recent decline of blueback herring and American shad in the Connecticut River. *American Fisheries Society Monograph* 9:361-378.
- 87. South Atlantic Fishery Management Council. 2009. Stock Assessment Report: Atlantic red drum. SEDAR Report 18. South Atlantic Fishery Management Council, North Charleston, SC.
- 88. Steele, J. H., and M. Schumacher. 2000. Ecosystem structure before fishing. *Fisheries Research* 44:201-205.
- Strayer, D. L., K. A. Hattala, and A. W. Kahnle. 2004. Effects of an invasive bivalve (Dreissena polymorpha) on fish in the Hudson River estuary. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 61:924-941.

- Summers, J. K., 1989. Simulating the indirect effects of power plant entrainment losses on an estuarine ecosystem. *Ecological Modelling* 49: 31-47.
- 91. Super, R. W., and D. K. Gordon. 2003. Minimizing adverse environmental impact: How murky the waters? Pp. 213-230 in Dixon, D. A., J. A. Veil, and J. Wisniewski (eds.) Defining and Assessing Adverse Environmental Impact from Power Plant Impingement and Entrainment of Aquatic Organisms. A. A. Balkema Publishers, Lisse, The Netherlands.
- 92. Thompson, R. M., M. Hemberg, B. M. Starzomski, and J. B. Shurin. 2007. Trophic levels and trophic tangles: The prevalence of omnivory in real food webs. *Ecology* 88:612-617.
- Turnpenny, A. W. H. 1988. Fish impingement at estuarine power stations and its significance to commercial fishing. *Journal of Fish Biology* 33 (Supplement A):103-110.
- Turnpenny, A. W. H., and C. J. L. Taylor. 2000. An assessment of the effect of the Sizewell power stations on fish populations. *Hydroécologie Appliqué* 12:87-134.
- 95. U.S. Commission on Ocean Policy. 2004. An ocean blueprint for the 21st Century. U.S. Commission on Ocean Policy, Washington, D.C.
- 96. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2002. Case study analysis for the proposed Section 316(b) Phase II Existing Facilities Rule. EPA/821-R-02-002. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- USEPA 2004. Regional analysis document for the final Section 316(b) Existing Facilities Rule. EPA/821-R-02-003. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- USEPA. 2006. Regional benefits analysis for the final Section 316(b) Phase III Existing Facilities Rule. EPA /821-R-04-007. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- USEPA. 2008. National Coastal Conditions Report III. EPA/842-R-08-002. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- 100. Vander Zanden, M. J., and Y. Vadeboncoeur. 2002. Fishes as integrators of pelagic and benthic food webs in lakes. *Ecology* 83:2152-2161.
- 101. White, J. W., K. J. Nickols, L. Clarke, and A. J. Largier. 2010. Larval entrainment in cooling water intakes: spatially explicit models reveal effects on benthic metapopulations and shortcomings of traditional assessments. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 67:2014-2031.



Export Control Restrictions

Access to and use of EPRI Intellectual Property is granted with the specific understanding and requirement that responsibility for ensuring full compliance with all applicable U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations is being undertaken by you and your company. This includes an obligation to ensure that any individual receiving access hereunder who is not a U.S. citizen or permanent U.S. resident is permitted access under applicable U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations. In the event you are uncertain whether you or your company may lawfully obtain access to this EPRI Intellectual Property, you acknowledge that it is your obligation to consult with your company's legal counsel to determine whether this access is lawful. Although EPRI may make available on a case-by-case basis an informal assessment of the applicable U.S. export classification for specific EPRI Intellectual Property, you and your company acknowledge that this assessment is solely for informational purposes and not for reliance purposes. You and your company acknowledge that it is still the obligation of you and your company to make your own assessment of the applicable U.S. export classification and ensure compliance accordingly. You and your company understand and acknowledge your obligations to make a prompt report to EPRI and the appropriate authorities regarding any access to or use of EPRI Intellectual Property hereunder that may be in violation of applicable U.S. or foreign export laws or regulations.

The Electric Power Research Institute Inc., (EPRI, www.epri.com) conducts research and development relating to the generation, delivery and use of electricity for the benefit of the public. An independent, nonprofit organization, EPRI brings together its scientists and engineers as well as experts from academia and industry to help address challenges in electricity, including reliability, efficiency, health, safety and the environment. EPRI also provides technology, policy and economic analyses to drive long-range research and development planning, and supports research in emerging technologies. EPRI's members represent more than 90 percent of the electricity generated and delivered in the United States, and international participation extends to 40 countries. EPRI's principal offices and laboratories are located in Palo Alto, Calif.; Charlotte, N.C.; Knoxville, Tenn.; and Lenox, Mass.

Together...Shaping the Future of Electricity

Program:

Fish Protection at Steam Electric Power Plants

© 2011 Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), Inc. All rights reserved. Electric Power Research Institute, EPRI, and TOGETHER...SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ELECTRICITY are registered service marks of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc.

1023094

Port Authority 036694